
 
 
 
 
 
 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEBRASKA 

 
OGLALA SIOUX TRIBE, 
 
 Plaintiff, 
 
vs. 
 
JASON SCHWARTING, LICENSEE OF 
ARROWHEAD INN, INC.; JASON 
SCHWARTING d/b/a ARROWHEAD INN, 
INC.; SANFORD HOLDINGS, LLC, 
LICENSEE OF D&S PIONEER SERVICES; 
SANFORD HOLDINGS, LLC d/b/a D&S 
PIONEER SERVICE; STUART J. KOZAL, 
LICENSEE OF JUMPING EAGLE INN; 
STUART J. KOZAL d/b/a JUMPING 
EAGLE INN; CLAY M. BREHMER, 
PARTNER, LICENSEE OF STATE LINE 
LIQUOR; CLAY M. BREHMER, 
PARTNER d/b/a STATE LINE LIQUOR; 
DANIEL J. BREHMER, PARTNER d/b/a 
STATE LINE LIQUOR; PIVO, INC. d/b/a 
HIGH PLAINS BUDWEISER; DIETRICH 
DISTRIBUTING CO., INC.; ARROWHEAD 
DISTRIBUTING, INC.; COORS 
DISTRIBUTING OF WEST NEBRASKA, 
INC. d/b/a COORS OF WEST NEBRASKA; 
ANHEUSER BUSCH INBEV 
WORLDWIDE, INC.; SAB MILLER d/b/a 
MILLER BREWING COMPANY; 
MOLSON COORS BREWING COMPANY; 
MILLERCOORS, LLC; and PABST 
BREWING COMPANY, 
 
 Defendants. 
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DEFENDANTS, JASON 
SCHWARTING, LICENSEE OF 

ARROWHEAD INN, INC. AND JASON 
SCHWARTING D/B/A ARROWHEAD 
INN, INC’S, BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF 

MOTION TO DISMISS 
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INTRODUCTION  

The Oglala Sioux Tribe (“Plaintiff”) is a federally recognized Native American Indian 

Tribe residing on the Pine Ridge Indian Reservation (“PRIR”), the boundaries of which are 

primarily within South Dakota.  (Second Amended Complaint ¶ 17).  Plaintiff has filed suit in 

this Court alleging various Defendant entities, including retailers, distributors, and manufacturers 

of alcoholic beverages, are responsible for societal ills caused on the PRIR by the consumption 

of alcohol.  Plaintiff alleges, against all Defendants, causes of action for “persons acting in 

concert,” “conspiracy to violate 18 U.S.C. § 1161,” “injunction,” “public nuisance,” and “private 

nuisance.”  (Second Amended Comp. ¶¶ 43-65).  

Defendants, Jason Schwarting, Licensee of Arrowhead Inn, Inc. and Jason Schwarting 

d/b/a Arrowhead Inn, Inc. (“Arrowhead Inn”), submit this Brief in support of their Motion to 

Dismiss Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint (Filing No. 109) because Plaintiff lacks Article 

III standing and runs afoul of prudential standing rules.  Plaintiff has also failed to state a claim 

upon which relief may be granted.   

Plaintiff lacks Article III standing to bring its claims because its alleged injuries are not 

fairly traceable to Arrowhead Inn’s actions.  Further, even if they were traceable, any alleged 

injury would not be redressed by a favorable decision of this Court.  Plaintiff’s Second Amended 

Complaint also runs afoul of prudential standing requirements.  Conversely, even if standing is 

found, Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint fails, on multiple levels, to state claims upon 

which relief may be granted.  First, Plaintiff’s attempt to support a conspiracy cause of action by 

citing 18 U.S.C. § 1161 fails, as this statute is not applicable to any “area not in Indian Country.”  

Second, Plaintiff’s claim for “persons acting in concert” fails because Plaintiff cannot state a 

necessary underlying tort.   

Third, Plaintiff’s claim for injunction is not supported by the facts alleged as there is no 

clear right at issue and no practicable standard to manage a permanent injunction.  Fourth, 

Plaintiff’s claims for public and private nuisances fail because the Second Amended Complaint 

does not plausibly demonstrate Arrowhead Inn proximately caused Plaintiff’s alleged injuries.   

For the above-mentioned reasons, Arrowhead Inn is requesting this Court enter an Order 

dismissing Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint with prejudice. 

BACKGROUND  

 Plaintiff is a federally recognized Native American Indian Tribe that seeks damages for 
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injuries it has allegedly sustained as a result of alcoholic beverages.  (Second Amended Comp.).  

Plaintiff’s Tribe members reside on the Pine Ridge Indian Reservation, a reservation primarily 

within South Dakota that is home to approximately 40,000 residents, of which about 5,700 live 

in the village of Pine Ridge.  (Second Amended Comp. ¶¶ 17, 19).  The PRIR is a “dry” 

reservation that prohibits the sale, possession, and/or consumption of alcohol.  It is located close 

to the town of Whiteclay, Nebraska.  (Second Amended Comp. ¶¶ 19-20).  Because Whiteclay is 

not within the borders of the PRIR, Plaintiff is unable to enforce its Tribal laws and, therefore, 

cannot restrict the sale of alcohol in Whiteclay.  (Second Amended Comp. ¶¶ 19-20).   

 Plaintiff alleges the population in and around Whiteclay is sparse, yet retailers in the 

village sell a significant amount of beer, despite customers having no place to lawfully consume 

it while in Whiteclay.  (Second Amended Comp. ¶ 22).  Plaintiff asserts significant amounts of 

beer, which are legally sold in Whiteclay, are eventually transported to the PRIR where it is 

resold and consumed, against Tribal law.  (Second Amended Comp. ¶ 24).  Plaintiff claims the 

illegal sale and trade of alcohol is open and notorious and, further, that this alcohol has caused ill 

effects on Tribe members, its social/public services, and its culture. (Second Amended Comp. ¶¶ 

25-26, 28-39).  Plaintiff asserts the collective Defendants knew or should have known alcohol 

sold in Whiteclay would end up in the PRIR in violation of Tribal and Nebraska law.  (Second 

Amended Comp. ¶ 40).  The resulting damages have and will allegedly cost “millions of dollars” 

to provide services to address the illegal sale, transport, and consumption of alcohol, of which 

Plaintiff does not have the resources to complete. (Second Amended Comp. ¶ 40).    

 Plaintiff alleges the collective Defendants knew or should have known about the alleged 

illegal sale of alcohol, yet knowingly cooperated and assisted in the manufacture, distribution, 

and sale of alcohol. (Second Amended Comp. ¶¶ 27, 40, 42).  Plaintiff has brought five “causes 

of action” against all Defendants to include “persons acting in concert,” “conspiracy to violate 18 

U.S.C. § 1161,” “injunction,” “public nuisance,” and “private nuisance.”  (Second Amended 

Comp. ¶¶ 43-65). Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint must be dismissed because Plaintiff 

lacks standing and Plaintiff has also failed to state a claim upon which relief may be granted.   

STANDARD OF REVIEW  

 Under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), a Motion to Dismiss should be granted if the plaintiff is 

unable to articulate “enough facts to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.”  Bell 

Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544 (2007).  In determining whether the complaint states a 
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“plausible claim,” allegations of fact are what matters, merely setting forth labels, conclusions, 

formulaic recitations, naked assertions, and the like will not pass muster. Id. at 555-557.  The 

plausibility standard, which requires a federal court complaint to state a claim to relief that is 

plausible on its face, asks for more than a sheer possibility that a defendant has acted unlawfully.  

Crest Const. II, Inc. v. Doe, 660 F.3d 346, 353 (8th Cir. 2011).   

To defeat a Motion to Dismiss for failure to state a claim, a plaintiff need not provide 

specific facts in support of their allegations, but they must include sufficient factual information 

to provide the grounds on which the claim rests and to raise a right to relief above a speculative 

level.  Schaaf v. Residential Funding Group, 517 F.3d 544, 549 (8th Cir. 2008). 

ARGUMENT  

I.  PLAINTIFF LACKS STANDING TO MAINTAIN ITS CLAIMS. 

 Plaintiff’s claims must fail as a matter of law because it lacks standing to pursue its 

claims.  To demonstrate standing under Article III of the United States Constitution, Plaintiff 

must show (1) they have suffered “injury in fact,” meaning a concrete and particularized injury 

that is not “conjectural” or “hypothetical;” (2) a causal connection between the injury and the 

conduct complained of, meaning the injury “is fairly…trace[able] to the challenged action of the 

defendant;” and (3) it must be “likely,” as opposed to merely speculative, that the injury will be 

“redressed by a favorable decision.”  Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560-561 

(1992).  Plaintiff is unable to satisfy at least two prongs of this irreducible constitutional 

minimum of standing. 

 Plaintiff is unable to show that its alleged injuries are “fairly traceable” to Arrowhead 

Inn’s alleged conduct.  Specifically, Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint does not state when 

and where the alcohol was purchased that allegedly caused harm to Plaintiff.  How can Plaintiff’s 

alleged injuries be traced specifically to Arrowhead Inn’s actions, as opposed to other alcoholic 

beverage retailers around the Midwest, United States, or members of Plaintiff’s Tribe who 

potentially produce alcoholic beverages in the privacy of their home? Have Arrowhead Inn’s 

actions actually caused damage or injury to Plaintiff or have there been additional factors or 

forces?  Have the independent actions of some third party not before the Court caused Plaintiff 

damages? 

 Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint also does not contain any facts permitting a 

finding or inference that its alleged injuries are likely to be redressed by a favorable decision.  As 
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stated in Lujan, it must be “likely,” as opposed to merely “speculative,” that the injury will be 

redressed by a favorable decision.  Supra, at 561.  Relief that does not remedy the injury suffered 

cannot bootstrap a plaintiff into federal court.  Steel Co. v. Citizens for a Better Env't, 523 U.S. 

83, 107 (1998).  Plaintiff’s claims for relief include an injunction and monetary damages; 

however, neither of these remedies would “likely” remedy its alleged injury in fact.  If this Court 

were to grant injunctive relief, would this curb the alleged societal ills on the PRIR that have 

been caused by alcohol? 

 Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint sets forth no facts which, if proved, would 

establish a non-speculative basis for finding Arrowhead Inn’s actions caused Plaintiff’s injuries.  

Instead, the Second Amended Complaint sets forth impermissible “formulaic recitations” of 

causation, asserting the collective Defendants’ “knew or should have known the ultimate sale of 

alcohol sold in Whiteclay would occur in the PRIR;” Defendants’ knowingly cooperated and 

assisted in the chain of supply necessary for the illegal trade of alcohol; and Defendants’ actions 

“have caused devastating injuries…and massive financial damages to the OST.” (Second 

Amended Comp. ¶¶ 40, 42).  Twombly, 550 U.S. at 555.  These “formulaic recitations” of 

causation, coupled with the speculative nature of redressability, are not sufficient to establish 

Article III standing.  As such, Plaintiff does not have Article III standing to maintain this action, 

and its Second Amended Complaint must be dismissed with prejudice.  Crest Const. II, Inc. 660 

F.3d 346, 353; Steel Co., 523 U.S. 83, 107.   

 Even if Plaintiff has met all requirements for Article III standing, its Second Amended 

Complaint must still be dismissed as it runs afoul of prudential standing limitations.  This case 

would require the Court to decide questions “of broad social import where no individual rights 

would be vindicated.”  Phillips Petroleum Co. v. Shutts, 472 U.S. 797, 804, 105 S.Ct. 2965, 

2970, 86 L.Ed.2d 628 (1985).  Further, Plaintiff is attempting to assert third party standing by 

alleging prohibited “generalized grievances” of a large class.  Warth v. Seldin, 422 U.S. 490, 

499, 95 S.Ct. 2197, 2205, 45 L.Ed.2d 343 (1975). There is no constitutional or statutory 

provision that grants it a right to judicial relief.   Id. at 499-500.  For this additional reason, 

Plaintiff does not have standing to maintain its Second Amended Complaint and it must be 

dismissed with prejudice.  
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A. PLAINTIFF HAS NOT PLEADED SUFFICIENT FACTS TO ESTAB LISH 
ITS ALLEGED INJURIES ARE “FAIRLY TRACEABLE” TO 
ARROWHEAD INN’S CONDUCT. 

 
 Plaintiff is unable to establish Article III standing because it cannot establish the causal 

connection between the injury it claims and Arrowhead Inn’s conduct.  Plaintiff, as set forth in 

Lujan, must show that its injury is “fairly traceable” to Arrowhead Inn’s conduct rather than to 

the “independent action of some third party not before the court.”  Simon v. E. Kentucky Welfare 

Rights Org., 426 U.S. 26, 41-42 (1976); Bennett v. Spear, 520 U.S. 154, 167 (1997).  In addition, 

an injury is not fairly traceable to the defendant’s conduct if the causal chain linking the two is 

“too attenuated.”  Allen v. Wright, 468 U.S. 737, 757 (1984).  

 Nowhere in Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint does it attribute specific conduct to 

Arrowhead Inn.  Rather, Plaintiff collectively groups the various Defendants and asserts, “their 

common enterprise and cooperation has made the illegal trade in alcohol possible and have 

caused devastating injuries to the Lakota people and massive financial damages to the OST.”  

(Second Amended Comp. ¶ 40).  In other portions of its Complaint, Plaintiff attempts to assert 

specific allegations of conduct against “the Defendants and each of them,” however, these 

conclusory statements and formulaic recitations are not sufficient to confer standing. (Second 

Amended Comp. ¶¶ 40, 42, 45-48, 52, 61-62, 65); Twombly, 550 U.S. at 555.  Plaintiff’s 

attempts to collectively group “Defendants” and “Defendants and each of them” cannot mask the 

fatal defect—its alleged injuries are not “fairly traceable” to the actions of Arrowhead Inn.   

 The lack of fair traceability is exacerbated by the fact Plaintiff must tie its alleged 

alcohol-related injuries, not only to “Defendants’” conduct as a whole, but rather to that portion 

of Arrowhead Inn’s conduct that was supposedly wrongful.  Lujan, 504 U.S. at 560 (‘injury has 

to be “fairly traceable” to the challenged action of the defendant…’) quoting Simon v. Eastern 

Ky. Welfare Rights Organization, 426 U.S. 26, 41-42 (1976).  Plaintiff’s Second Amended 

Complaint does not allege any facts permitting a finding or inference that Arrowhead Inn’s 

actions, versus the actions of any other alcoholic retailer, caused the alleged alcohol-related 

damages.   

 Based upon the Second Amended Complaint, Plaintiff’s alleged injuries cannot be “fairly 

traced” to Arrowhead Inn’s conduct and, as such, their claim must fail, as a matter of law, for 

lack of standing.    
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B. PLAINTIFF ALSO CANNOT SHOW “FAIR TRACEABILITY” BECA USE 
ITS INJURIES ARE TOO ATTENUATED. 

 
 The Second Amended Complaint must be dismissed for the additional reason that 

Plaintiff’s injuries are also too remote from Arrowhead Inn’s actions.  Warth v. Seldin, 422 U.S. 

490 (1975); Allen, 468 U.S. 737, 757-58 (1984).  Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint, at best, 

sets forth a highly attenuated and speculative theory of causation.  The alleged chain of causation 

includes, at minimum, the following remote links which are attributable to no specific 

Defendant: 

1. Alcoholic beverages are sold in Whiteclay. (Second Amended Comp. ¶ 22); 

2. The alcohol is illegally transported, possessed, resold, and consumed in the PRIR. 

(Second Amended Comp. ¶ 24); 

3. The majority of alcohol consumed in the PRIR is sold in Whiteclay. (Second 

Amended Comp. ¶ 28);  

4. The alcohol sold in Whiteclay, for a period over ten years, and for years to come, 

has caused health problems and affected social services. (Second Amended 

Comp. ¶¶ 27, 38). 

 These allegations and Plaintiff’s theory on causation is entirely speculative and relies 

upon the conduct of numerous entities over a significant period.  This reliance upon the conduct 

of many is highlighted by its attempt to collectively group all of the Defendants to this action. 

Plaintiff’s Seconded Amended Complaint is based on “little more than the remote possibility, 

unsubstantiated by allegations of fact, that their situation might have been better had 

[Defendants] acted otherwise…”   Warth v. Seldin, 422 U.S. 490, 506-507.  Plaintiff’s highly 

speculative and attenuated theory of causation and resultant harm indicates it lacks standing for 

this reason as well.  

C. IT IS SPECULATIVE, AT BEST, THAT ANY RELIEF THIS CO URT 
MAY GRANT WOULD REDRESS PLAINTIFF’S ALLEGED INJURIE S. 

 
 It is not likely that any favorable decision this Court could make would redress Plaintiff’s 

injuries.  Plaintiff is asking this Court to grant an injunction and award monetary damages.  

However, none of these remedies would “likely” remedy any alleged injuries in fact.  For this 

Court to grant injunctive relief, as requested by Plaintiff, it would have to determine, on its own, 

acceptable level of beer sales “by the Defendants out of Whiteclay.”  Further, it would have to 
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determine what amount of beer sales “can reasonably be consumed in accordance with the laws 

of the State of Nebraska and the OST.” (Second Amended Comp. ¶ 58).  Plaintiff is asking this 

Court to act both in a judicial and legislative function.  In creating these acceptable limits, the 

Court would blur the lines of the separation of powers and delve into areas reserved for the 

Nebraska Legislature. 

 Further, Plaintiff is, in essence, asking this Court to disallow Arrowhead Inn from selling 

alcohol to Plaintiff’s Tribe members residing on the PRIR.  This would present significant 

implications regarding prospective racial and ethnic discrimination in violation of constitutional 

protections.  Worse yet, this could subject Arrowhead Inn to further litigation for discrimination 

based upon race or ethnicity. 

 In addition to injunctive relief, Plaintiff has requested an unspecified sum of monetary 

damages.  However, the award of such damages would not likely redress the alleged ongoing 

injuries.   

  Plaintiff’s injuries would not likely be favorably redressed by any decision of this Court, 

rather, it would require this Court to enact discriminatory legislation and/or award a sum of 

money that would not likely redress any harm.  Accordingly, this Court should dismiss Plaintiff’s 

Second Amended Complaint as Plaintiff lacks Article III standing. 

D. PLAINTIFF’S SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT RUNS AFOUL OF 
PRUDENTIAL LIMITATIONS ON STANDING. 

 
 In addition to Article III, Plaintiff must satisfy certain prudential standing requirements. 

Warth, 422 U.S. 490, 499-501.  Prudential standing requires a party assert his own legal interests 

rather than those of third parties and that a claim not be a “generalized grievance” shared in by 

all or a large class of citizens.  Warth at 499. Further, prudential standing also ascertains 

“whether the constitutional or statutory provision on which the claim rests properly can be 

understood as granting persons in the plaintiff’s position a right to judicial relief.” Warth at 500.  

Plaintiff’s complaints must “arguably fall within the zone of interests protected or regulated by 

the statutory provision or constitutional guarantee invoked in the suit.”  Bennett v. Spear, 520 

U.S. 154, 162, 117 S.Ct. 1154, 1161, 137 L.Ed.2d 281 (1997).  The “source of plaintiff’s claim 

to relief ‘assumes critical importance’ with respect to prudential standing.”  Warth at 500.  Based 

upon these stated prudential limitations, Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint must be 

dismissed for lack of standing.   
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 Even assuming Plaintiff is not asserting rights of third parties and/or “generalized 

grievances” shared in by all or a large class of citizens, its Second Amended Complaint runs 

afoul of prudential standing because its source of claim, 18 U.S.C. § 1161, does not afford the 

type of relief it seeks.  Specifically, in Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint, it alleges the 

“Defendants conspired to violate 18 U.S.C. § 1161.”  This federal criminal statute, only 

applicable in “Indian Country” and hence not applicable to Arrowhead Inn, was arguably enacted 

to combat criminal activity and not provide private parties with a civil cause of action and/or 

claim for damages.  Plaintiff’s current complaints are not within the zone of interests this statute 

seeks to protect, public safety, nor does it provide a right to judicial relief in this circumstance.  

For these reasons, Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint must be dismissed for the additional 

reason that it runs afoul of prudential standing limitations.  

II.  PLAINTIFF FAILS TO STATE A CLAIM UPON WHICH RELIEF MAY BE 
GRANTED. 

 
Even if Plaintiff has standing, Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint fails, on multiple 

levels, to set forth claims upon which relief may be granted.  First, Plaintiff attempts to assert the 

“Defendants, and each of them” conspired to violate a federal criminal statute, 18 U.S.C. § 1161.  

This federal criminal statute explicitly states it applies only in “Indian Country.”  Plaintiff has 

admitted, in its Second Amended Complaint, that Whiteclay is not within “Indian Country.”  

Second, the above-referenced criminal statue also does not create a private right of action that 

would form a basis for recovery.  Third, Plaintiff’s “persons acting in concert,” merely pled in 

attempts to pursue a joint liability theory against “all Defendants,” must fail because such claim 

is not an independent cause of action.  Rather, it must be accompanied by allegations of an 

underlying tort.  Because Plaintiff’s underlying tort claims fail, its claims “Defendants” 

conspired or acted in concert to commit those underlying torts must also fail.   

Fourth, Plaintiff’s claim for a permanent injunction is not supported by the facts alleged, 

as there is no clear right at issue and no practicable standard to manage a permanent injunction.  

Fifth, Plaintiff fails to state a public nuisance claim because it is unable to establish a public right 

and is also unable to show it suffered a special injury that is distinct and different in kind from 

that suffered by the general public.  Further, Plaintiff has not alleged, nor can it allege, for either 

a public or private nuisance, that Arrowhead Inn’s conduct was an actual or legal cause of 

Plaintiff’s injuries.  Sixth, public policy dictates Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint be 
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dismissed with prejudice as allowing it to proceed past this point would open the proverbial 

“floodgates” of litigation. 

Based upon the Second Amended Complaint, Plaintiff fails to state claims upon which 

relief can be granted. 

A. 18 U.S.C. § 1161, A CRIMINAL STATUTE, AFFORDS PLAINTIFF NO 
CAUSE OF ACTION AS IT IS ONLY APPLICABLE IN “INDIAN  
COUNTRY.” 

 
Plaintiff maintains, as a cause of action, that “[t]he Defendants, and each of them, have 

cooperated in a common scheme or enterprise and thereby conspired to violate 18 U.S.C. 

§ 1161.”  However, the relevant text of § 1161 states, that it is only enforceable in “Indian 

Country.”  Indian Country, as defined in 18 U.S.C. § 1161 means: 

(a) all land within the limits of any Indian reservation under the jurisdiction of the 
United States Government, notwithstanding the issuance of any patent, and, 
including rights-of-way running through the reservation, (b) all dependent Indian 
communities within the borders of the United States whether within the original 
or subsequently acquired territory thereof, and whether within or without the 
limits of a state, and (c) all Indian allotments, the Indian titles to which have not 
been extinguished, including rights-of-way running through the same. (emphasis 
added)  18 U.S.C. § 1151.  
 

 Plaintiff has admitted the village of Whiteclay, Nebraska is not contained within the 

boundaries of the PRIR and, therefore, is unable to enforce Tribal laws.  (Plaintiff’s Second 

Amended Comp. ¶ 18).  Although Plaintiff believes Whiteclay is located on land it lays claim to, 

it has no legal basis or authority to establish its territorial rights.  Rather, and as present in this 

case, “the geographic scope of state and tribal authority extends to the reservation’s four 

corners.” City of Timber Lake v. Cheyenne River Sioux Tribe, 10 F.3d 554, 558 (8th Cir. 1993).  

Here, Whiteclay, albeit very close to the PRIR, is not subject to Plaintiff’s authority.  Plaintiff’s 

cause of action for purported violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1161 should be dismissed as this statute 

only applies in “Indian Country” and, therefore, there are no grounds upon which relief can be 

granted. 

B. PLAINTIFF MAY NOT BRING A PRIVATE CAUSE OF ACTION F OR 
ALLEGED VIOLATIONS OF 18 U.S.C § 1161, A CRIMINAL S TATUTE. 

 
Plaintiff further attempts to create a private civil cause of action based upon a statute 

designed to punish criminal behavior.  18 U.S.C. § 1161, and related sections, are located within 
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Title 18 of the United States Criminal Code.  It is well established that criminal statutes are 

public in nature and prosecuted in the name of the United States to protect society’s interest in 

security, fairness, and freedom.   Kunzer v. Magill, 667 F.Supp.2d 1058, 1060-61 (D. Minn. 

2009).  The presence of a criminal statute neither creates nor implies a corresponding private 

right of action.  Id. citing United States v. Wadena, 152 F.3d 831, 845-46 (8th Cir.1998).   

Plaintiff’s attempts to create a private right of action, based upon a criminal statute, 

should be dismissed for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.  Plaintiff’s 

cause of action rests upon a significant requirement—the area where the liquor was sold must be 

within “Indian Country.”  Plaintiff admits Whiteclay, Nebraska is not within the four corners of 

the PRIR and, as such, 18 U.S.C. § 1161 is not applicable.  There is no private cause of action, as 

any such claim would have to be based upon a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1161.  Here, Plaintiff is 

unable to show a violation of the relevant statute and, as such, Plaintiff’s allegations of purported 

violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1161 should be dismissed for failure to state a claim upon which relief 

can be granted. 

C. PLAINTIFF’S PERSONS ACTING IN CONCERT CAUSE OF ACTI ON IS 
NOT BASED UPON ANY UNDERLYING TORTIOUS ACT. 

 
Plaintiff is attempting to maintain a claim for “Persons Acting in Concert” against the 

“Defendants and each of them.”   This cause of action, a theory of secondary liability, is merely 

an attempt by Plaintiff to hold Arrowhead Inn jointly and severally liable for the whole of 

Plaintiff’s alleged damages.1  (Plaintiff’s Second Amended Comp. ¶¶ 43-48).  Despite these 

allegations, Arrowhead Inn is aware of no Nebraska case law recognizing this as an independent, 

separate cause of action.  Because Plaintiff has alleged no underlying tortious act, thereby 

subjecting Arrowhead Inn to secondary liability, Plaintiff’s concert of action must be dismissed. 

 Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint appears to set forth boilerplate allegations of 

“liability for aiding and abetting tortious conduct” under the Restatement (Second) of Torts 

§ 876 (1979).  Specifically, this section reads: 

 
For harm resulting to a third person from the tortious conduct of another, one is 
subject to liability if he: 

 
1. Does a tortious act in concert with the other or pursuant to a common 

                                                 
1 Properly understood, concert of action merely describes two theories of secondary liability—conspiracy and aiding 
and abetting.  See Halberstam v. Welch, 705 F.2d 472, 477 (D.C. Cir. 1983). 
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design with him, or 
2. Knows that the other’s conduct constitutes a breach of duty and gives 

substantial assistance or encouragement to the other so to conduct himself, 
or 

3. Gives substantial assistance to the other in accomplishing a tortious result 
and his own conduct, separately considered, constitutes a breach of duty to 
the third person. 

 
Based upon this language, in order for Plaintiff to state a claim upon which relief can be 

granted, it must allege an underlying tort.  See E. Trading Co. v. Refco, Inc., 229 F.3d 617, 623 

(7th Cir. 2000)(“there is no tort for aiding and abetting;” rather, it is a “basis for imposing [tort] 

liability”); Halberstam, 705 F.2d at 479 (“Since liability for civil conspiracy depends on 

performance of some underlying tortious act, the conspiracy is not independently actionable; 

rather it is a means for establishing vicarious liability for the underlying tort.”).  Besides 

conclusory allegations and “formulaic recitations” in its Second Amended Complaint, Plaintiff 

has not pled a proper concert-of-action claim and, therefore, its Second Amended Complaint 

must be dismissed with prejudice for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. 

Plaintiff, in its Second Amended Complaint, is alleging various concerted actions: acting 

“in concert to manufacture, distribute, and sell beer through Whiteclay retail outlets in amounts 

that cannot be legally sold, consumed or possessed under the laws of the State of Nebraska and 

the OST;” “supplying and transporting volumes of beer far in excess of an amount that could be 

sold in compliance with the laws of the State of Nebraska and the OST;” and conspiring to 

violate 18 U.S.C. § 1161.  Despite these vague boilerplate allegations, Plaintiff provides no 

additional allegations showing it is entitled to relief. 

Specifically, Plaintiff does not provide any specific citations to Nebraska statutes that 

“Defendants” are alleged to have violated.  Further, the only statutes “of the State of Nebraska” 

regulating the sale and distribution of liquor are found in the Nebraska Liquor Control Act 

(“Liquor Control Act”).  Neb. Rev. Stat. 53-101, et seq.  Nowhere in the Liquor Control Act or in 

the Liquor Control Commission rules, authorized by the Liquor Control Act, are there any limits 

upon the amount of alcohol that may be sold.  More troubling is Plaintiff’s allegation that 

“Defendants…conduct in the sale of the vast amount of beer…is in breach of their duties under 

the law of the State of Nebraska, the OST, and the United States of America.”  (Second 

Amended Comp. ¶¶ 43-47). 

Plaintiff is asserting a dram shop liability cause of action in an attempt to impose a duty 
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upon Arrowhead Inn under the Liquor Control Act.  The Nebraska Supreme Court has squarely 

and firmly rejected this type of claim.  Holmes v. Circo, 196 Neb. 496, 504, 244 N.W.2d 65, 69-

70 (1976).  In Holmes, the Nebraska Supreme Court held that the Nebraska Liquor Control Act 

does not create a civil cause of action in favor of, or duty toward, third parties injured as a result 

of violations by owners and operators of bars.  Id. at 504.  While Holmes discussed the liability 

of owners and operators of bars, Arrowhead Inn maintains this holding applies equally to 

retailers.  Because Nebraska law does not recognize dram shop liability, Plaintiff is unable to 

show a duty and any unlawful act on behalf of Arrowhead Inn.  Accordingly, Plaintiff’s claims 

that Arrowhead Inn breached its duties under Nebraska law by “cooperating and engaging in a 

common enterprise” fails to state a cause of action upon which relief can be granted. 

Plaintiff also repeatedly alleges the sale of alcohol breaches Tribal law as it is smuggled 

into and resold in the PRIR.  Plaintiff does not make allegations as to who takes the independent 

actions of smuggling the alcohol into the PRIR.  Despite the repeated conclusory allegations, 

Plaintiff recognizes in both paragraphs 19 and 54 of its Second Amended Complaint that it is 

“unable to enforce Tribal laws in Whiteclay.”  Notwithstanding these admissions, Plaintiff 

appears to be attempting to assert a cause of action for alleged violations of Tribal law.  Because 

Tribal laws do not apply in Whiteclay, Arrowhead Inn can never be found to have violated them 

or conspired to violate them.  Accordingly, Plaintiff’s allegations Arrowhead Inn breached a duty 

“to make reasonable efforts to ensure their products are sold in obedience to the laws…of the 

OST” fails to state a claim upon which relief may be granted.  (Second Amended Comp. ¶ 47). 

Finally, Plaintiff’s vague allegations “the Defendants and each of them…breach[ed] their 

duties under the laws…of the United States of America” also fails to state a claim upon which 

relief may be granted.  The only federal statute Plaintiff cites in its Complaint is 18 U.S.C. 

§ 1161.  This federal criminal statute only applies in “Indian Country” and, therefore, has no 

application to Whiteclay, Nebraska.  Accordingly, Arrowhead Inn, located outside of “Indian 

Country,” cannot be said to have acted in concert or conspired to violate a statute that has no 

application to it.   

Because Plaintiff’s underlying “laws of the State of Nebraska, the OST, and the United 

States of America” provide no independent underlying tort upon which to support a claim for 

persons acting in concert, the claim must be dismissed. 
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D. PLAINTIFF’S REQUEST FOR A PERMANENT INJUNCTION IS N OT 
SUPPORTED BY THE FACTS ALLEGED. 

 
Plaintiff’s request for mandatory injunctive relief is not supported by the facts alleged in 

its Second Amended Complaint.  An injunction is an extraordinary remedy and ordinarily will 

not be granted except in a clear case where there is an actual and substantial injury; the right 

must be clear and the damage irreparable.  City of Lincoln v. Cather and Sons Const., Inc., 206 

Neb. 10, 290 N.W.2d 798 (1980).  Before one may be granted injunctive relief, one must plead 

and prove that, unless the injunction is granted, the moving party will suffer irreparable harm and 

damage and has no other adequate remedy at law.  Id.    A mandatory injunction may be granted 

when there is clear proof of its necessity and practicability.  Knox County v. City of Creighton, 

214 Neb. 196, 199, 333 N.W.2d 395, 397 (1983).  A mandatory injunction must be exercised 

sparingly and cautiously. Barthel v. Liermann, 2 Neb. App. 347, 356-57, 509 N.W.2d 660, 666 

(1993) citing 42 Am.Jur.2d Injunctions § 26 (1969). 

Plaintiff, in its Second Amended Complaint, is asking this Court to grant a permanent 

injunction for lawful activities occurring outside of the PRIR.2  Specifically, Plaintiff alleges 

“[t]here are no adequate remedies at law available for the OST to enforce its Federally 

recognized granted rights under 18 U.S.C. § 1161 and to protect its sovereignty over the use and 

possession of alcohol and the integrity of its borders, and therefore the OST requests this Court 

to uphold the Federal law in this matter by granting injunctive relief against the named 

Defendants.”  (Second Amended Comp. ¶ 57).  The flaw in Plaintiff’s allegations is that it is 

requesting this Court impose a federal statute, applicable only in “Indian Country,” to areas 

outside of the PRIR.  Plaintiff admits Whiteclay is not within the borders of the PRIR and, 

therefore, it has no right, clear or otherwise, to have its specifically cited federal statute applied 

to areas outside of “Indian Country.”  For this reason, Plaintiff’s request for a permanent 

injunction must fail. 

Additionally, Plaintiff’s request for permanent injunctive relief is also not supported by 

the facts alleged because there is no clear proof that the grant of an injunction is practicable.  

Knox County.  In actuality, the grant of a permanent injunction requested by Plaintiff is anything 

but practicable.  Specifically, Plaintiff requests this Court “to…limit the total volume of beer 

                                                 
2 Even assuming Plaintiff has no adequate remedies at law, its request for a permanent injunction must be dismissed 
as it is not supported by the facts alleged.  
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sold by the Defendants out of Whiteclay stores to an amount that can reasonably be consumed in 

accordance with the laws of the State of Nebraska and the OST.” (Second Amended Comp. 

¶ 58).  Even if Plaintiff’s request for a permanent injunction was proper, there is no clear proof of 

its practicability as required under Nebraska law.  First, this Court would have to determine what 

amount of beer “can reasonably be consumed in accordance with the laws of the State of 

Nebraska and the OST.”  This would be extremely difficult because Nebraska law does not per 

se limit the amount of beer that may be lawfully sold.  Further, how could “reasonable levels” be 

set? What is a “reasonable level?” What would the Court rely upon in deciding? Second, if the 

Court were to grant a permanent injunction to only those retailers in Whiteclay, would those 

seeking alcohol drive to other areas to obtain it?  If this were to occur, would the Court have to 

expand the permanent injunction to include those retailers?  At what geographic distance would a 

permanent injunction no longer be required? Would the Court be encroaching and acting in a 

legislative capacity by setting acceptable limits for the sale of alcohol?  

Third, how would, practically speaking, Arrowhead Inn comply with and enforce the 

permanent injunction?  Would Arrowhead Inn only be allowed to sell to residents of the village 

of Whiteclay, the State of Nebraska, or non-Tribe members?  Would Arrowhead Inn have to 

enforce discriminatory sales practices by allowing only a certain volume of alcohol to be sold to 

people of different races or ethnicities?  How would Arrowhead Inn account for a “reasonable 

level?”  Would it be required to keep daily accounting of sales to certain individuals?  Would 

this permanent injunction force Arrowhead Inn to cease operating?  

Finally, Plaintiff is, in essence, asking this Court to restrict Arrowhead Inn from selling 

alcohol to its Tribe members residing in the PRIR.  This would require the Court to authorize and 

compel possible racial and ethnic discrimination in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1981.  Such business 

operation could potentially subject Arrowhead Inn to lawsuits based upon this discrimination.  

Green v. Dillard's, Inc., 483 F.3d 533 (8th Cir. 2007).   

Plaintiff’s request for a permanent injunction is not practicable for the reason there is no 

manageable standard and it would further require the imposition of discriminatory sales 

practices.  For these reasons, Plaintiff’s claim for injunctive relief is not supported by the 

allegations and further cannot be supported by any allegations.  Accordingly, Plaintiff’s claim for 

injunctive relief should be dismissed with prejudice. 
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E. PLAINTIFF’S SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT DOES NOT STATE  A 
VALID PUBLIC NUISANCE CLAIM. 

 
Plaintiff maintains an action against all “Defendants” for public nuisance.  (Second 

Amended Comp. ¶¶ 59-62).  A public nuisance is an unreasonable interference with a right 

common to the general public.  County of York, Nebraska v. Tracy, 5 Neb.App. 240, 253, 558 

N.W.2d 815, 824 (1996) citing Restatement (Second) of Torts § 821B (1979).  An unreasonable 

interference may be found when (a) the conduct involves a significant interference with the 

public health, the public safety, the public peace, the public comfort or the public convenience, 

or (b) the conduct is proscribed by a statute, ordinance, or administrative regulation, or (c) the 

conduct is of a continuing nature or has produced a permanent or long-lasting effect, and, as the 

actor knows or has reason to know, has a significant effect upon the public right.  Id. A public 

right is one common to all members of the general public.  Restatement (Second) of Torts 

Restatement (Second) of Torts § 821B (1979), comment g.  

While Nebraska case law does not contain specific elements for the finding of a public 

nuisance, by comparison to its jury instruction on private nuisance, Arrowhead Inn maintains the 

requirements are identical.  NJI2d Civ. 17.013  Further, other courts interpreting the public 

nuisance Second Restatement section, favorably cited by the Nebraska Supreme Court, have 

interpreted the pleading requirements in a public nuisance action to contain at least four prongs: 

(1) the existence of a public right; (2) a substantial and unreasonable interference with that right 

by the defendant; (3) proximate cause; and (4) injury. City of Chicago v. Am. Cyanamid Co., 355 

Ill.App.3d 209, 214, 823 N.E.2d 126, 131 (2005) citing City of Chicago v. Beretta, 213 Ill.2d at 

368–70, 290 Ill.Dec. 525, 821 N.E.2d 1099 (2004). 

Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint does not establish a claim for relief based upon 

public nuisance.  Specifically, Plaintiff does not sufficiently allege the presence of a public right 

necessary for the finding of a public nuisance.  Consequently, Arrowhead Inn cannot be said to 

have unreasonably interfered with that right.  Additionally, Plaintiff’s public nuisance claim does 

not and cannot allege facts establishing Arrowhead Inn’s conduct was an actual and legal cause 

of Plaintiff’s alleged injuries.  Further, Plaintiff has not and cannot show a special injury that is 

distinct and different in kind from that suffered by the general public.  Hartford v. Women’s 

                                                 
3 NJI2d Civ. 17.01, Comment V—“…the distinction between private and public nuisance is not a distinction the jury 
is likely to be required to make.” 
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Services, P.C., 239 Neb. 540, 544, 477 N.W.2d 161, 165 (1991).  As discussed below, Plaintiff 

fails to state a public nuisance claim for multiple reasons. 

1. Plaintiff fails to state a public nuisance claim because the factual 
allegations fail to establish a public right.  

 
Plaintiff’s boilerplate, broad allegations of public rights in its Second Amended 

Complaint are insufficient to maintain a cause of action for public nuisance.  Specifically, 

Plaintiff maintains the: 

actions of Defendants have created a public nuisance inside the Pine Ridge 
Reservation by interfering with the safe and unimpeded use of the streets, 
sidewalk, and other public spaces…such interference includes, but is not limited 
to, public intoxication, driving of automobiles while under the influence of 
alcohol and a wide variety of crimes committed by intoxicated 
persons…(Plaintiff’s Second Amended Comp. ¶ 61). 

 
The crux of Plaintiff’s allegations are that some unknown third parties are taking a lawful 

product, lawfully obtained, and committing later unlawful actions which in turn are allegedly 

violating a “public right.”  Plaintiff’s definition of a public right is grossly overbroad and has 

been discussed by other jurisdictions as an impermissible expansion of this phrase. 

In Beretta, supra, the Supreme Court of Illinois, in a case where the City of Chicago 

brought an action for public nuisance against various entities seeking damages because of gun 

violence, expressed its reluctance to “state there is a public right to be free from the threat that 

some individuals may use an otherwise legal product (be it a gun, liquor, a car, cell phone, or 

some other instrumentality) in a manner that may create a risk of harm to another.”  Id. at 374-

75, 821 N.E.2d at 1116.  In its discussion, the Court also provided various examples of what 

would happen if the concept of a public right was expanded: 

For example, the purchase and consumption of alcohol by adults is legal, while 
driving under the influence is a crime. If there is public right to be free from the 
threat that others may use a lawful product to break the law, that right would 
include the right to drive upon the highways, free from the risk of injury posed by 
drunk drivers. This public right to safe passage on the highways would provide 
the basis for public nuisance claims against brewers and distillers, distributing 
companies, and proprietors of bars, taverns, liquor stores, and restaurants with 
liquor licenses, all of whom could be said to contribute to an interference with the 
public right. 
  
Similarly, cell phones, DVD players, and other lawful products may be misused 
by drivers, creating a risk of harm to others. In an increasing number of 
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jurisdictions, state legislatures have acted to ban the use of these otherwise legal 
products while driving. A public right to be free from the threat that other drivers 
may defy these laws would permit nuisance liability to be imposed on an endless 
list of manufacturers, distributors, and retailers of manufactured products that are 
intended to be, or are likely to be, used by drivers, distracting them and causing 
injury to others.  City of Chicago v. Beretta U.S.A. Corp., 213 Ill. 2d 351, 375, 
821 N.E.2d 1099, 1116 (2004) 

 
 Faced with a possible limitless number of lawsuits, the Court held “there is no authority 

for the unprecedented expansion of the concept of public rights to encompass the right to be free 

from ‘unreasonable jeopardy to health, welfare, safety, and from unreasonable threats of danger 

to person and property,’ caused by the presence of illegal weapons in the City of Chicago, 

allegedly made possible by defendants’ actions or inaction elsewhere.”  Id. at 371, 375.   

The holding of Beretta is equally applicable to this case because Arrowhead Inn is legally 

selling alcohol in the town of Whiteclay.  Unknown third party individuals are then taking this 

legal product and allegedly committing a crime by transporting it into the PRIR.  If, as Plaintiff 

maintains, there were a public right to be free from the threat that others will break the law, then 

the possibility of formulating a public right would be limitless.  As the Court in Beretta implied, 

if this Court allowed an expansive definition of a “public right,” public nuisance claims would 

open the floodgates of litigation. 

 Plaintiff has not alleged facts showing a “public right” necessary for a finding of a public 

nuisance and, as such, cannot show Arrowhead Inn significantly interfered with that right.  

Accordingly, Plaintiff’s public nuisance cause of action should be dismissed with prejudice. 

2. Plaintiff fails to state a public nuisance claim because the factual 
allegations fail to establish Arrowhead Inn’s conduct was an actual or 
legal cause of any injuries.  

 
Plaintiff’s public nuisance claim also fails because the Complaint does not plausibly 

demonstrate Arrowhead Inn proximately caused any injury allegedly sustained by Plaintiff.  See 

Twombly, 550 U.S. at 570.  In its Second Amended Complaint, Plaintiff maintains “[t]he actions 

of Defendants have created a public nuisance by endangering and injuring the people, health, 

safety, and comfort of a considerable number of individual members of the OST.” (Plaintiff’s 

Second Amended Comp. ¶ 62).  Plaintiff apparently hopes that by collectively grouping “the 

Defendants” it can somehow overcome proving causation as to each Defendant.   

 Under Nebraska law, there are three basic requirements that must be met to establish 
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causation (1) that but for the defendant’s actions, the injury would not have occurred; (2) that the 

injury is the natural and probable result of the actions; and (3) that there is no efficient 

intervening cause.  World Radio Laboratories, Inc. v. Coopers & Lybrand, 251 Neb. 261, 276-

77, 557 N.W.2d 1, 11 (1996).  Further, a proximate cause is a cause that produces a result in a 

natural and continuous sequence, and without which the result would not have occurred.  Meyer 

v. State, 264 Neb. 545, 550, 650 N.W.2d 459, 463 (2002).  Generally, proximate cause is 

ordinarily a determination of the jury, however, where only one inference can be drawn, 

proximate cause is properly determined by the court as a matter of law.  Ecker v. Union Pac. R. 

Co., 164 Neb. 744, 747, 83 N.W.2d 551, 554 (1957).  In this case, Plaintiff has failed to identify 

any specific Defendant as the source of the alcohol that has allegedly caused it injury. 

 Plaintiff is asserting a public nuisance claim in an attempt to avoid meeting the causation 

requirements under Nebraska law.  Plaintiff has not alleged specific acts of each individual 

Defendant that has caused it injury because they simply cannot.  Alternatively, any alleged 

nuisance resulting from the lawful sale of alcohol by Arrowhead Inn was not caused by its 

conduct.  Rather, any nuisance resulting from the possession and consumption of alcohol in the 

PRIR is caused by the independent criminal acts of third parties.  After its lawful sale of alcohol, 

Arrowhead Inn does not have control over the resulting conduct of independent third parties 

and/or the alcohol. 

 In addition to lacking control over the alleged nuisance, any of Arrowhead Inn’s alleged 

wrongful acts are too attenuated from the resultant harm.  The highly speculative theory of 

causation requires multiple illogical leaps.  Specifically, there are multiple missing causal links 

from the sale of alcohol to the Tribe members’ resulting injuries.  By concluding the alcohol 

Arrowhead Inn sells causes Plaintiff’s injuries relies entirely on speculation.  Specifically, the 

following unanswered questions remain: (1) What happens to the alcohol after it is purchased? 

(2) How does it travel from Whiteclay to the PRIR? (3) What parties not before the Court 

partake in transporting alcohol from Arrowhead Inn into the PRIR? (4) Is the only alcohol taken 

into the PRIR purchased from Arrowhead Inn? (5) What is the timeframe from purchase of 

alcohol until alleged injury? (6) Are there other forces or reasons for Plaintiff’s alleged injuries?  

These allegations have not been made, nor can they be made.  

 Plaintiff’s allegations do not plausibly demonstrate Arrowhead Inn’s conduct caused its 

alleged injuries.  Further, Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint has not and cannot allege facts 
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establishing Arrowhead Inn’s conduct was a proximate cause of Plaintiff’s injuries.  

Accordingly, Plaintiff’s public nuisance claim should be dismissed with prejudice.  

3. Plaintiff has not alleged, and cannot allege, an injury that is distinct 
and different in kind from that the general public has suffered. 

 
Plaintiff has not alleged, and cannot allege, that it has suffered a special injury distinct 

and different in kind from that suffered by the general public.  Hartford v. Women’s Services, 

P.C., 239 Neb. 540, 544, 477 N.W.2d 161, 165 (1991); Karpisek v. Cather & Sons Construction, 

174 Neb. 234, 117 N.W.2d 322 (1962).  It is not enough that a plaintiff has suffered the same 

kind of harm or interference but to a greater extent or degree. Restatement (Second) of Torts 

§ 821C (1979), comment b. Plaintiff has not alleged, and cannot allege, harm different in kind 

from the general public and, as such, this claim must be dismissed. 

Plaintiff claims to have incurred various costs, both medical and judicial, associated with 

the overconsumption of alcohol on the PRIR.  Plaintiff maintains alcohol has caused shorter life 

expectancies, prenatal health issues, increased criminal activity, and affected social services.  

Plaintiff alleges these issues are magnified on the PRIR and its Tribe members suffer them to a 

greater extent or degree than “America as a whole.”  (Plaintiff’s Second Amended Comp. ¶¶ 30-

38).  Plaintiff’s allegations do not allege the ills caused by its Tribe members are different in kind 

than the ills that others, in the general public who are afflicted with or affected by alcoholism, 

experience.  Rather, Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint sets forth the quintessential example 

of allegations that are greater in extent or degree.  These allegations are not sufficient to set forth 

a public nuisance cause of action, and Plaintiff’s public nuisance claim must be dismissed for 

this additional reason.  Id. see also, Hartford, 239 Neb. at 545, 477 N.W.2d at 165. 

F. PLAINTIFF’S SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT DOES NOT STATE  A 
VALID PRIVATE NUISANCE CLAIM. 

 
Plaintiff, in addition to its claim for public nuisance, also alleges a private nuisance cause 

of action against “all Defendants.”  (Second Amended Comp. ¶¶ 63-65).  A private nuisance is a 

non-trespassory invasion of another’s interest in the private use and enjoyment of land.  While 

Nebraska law does not specifically define the phrase “use and enjoyment of land,” the 

Restatement (Second) of Torts § 821D (1979) provides guidance.4  Specifically, comment b 

                                                 
4 The Restatement (Second) of Torts § 821(D) (1979) was favorably cited by the Nebraska Supreme Court in Hall v. 
Phillips, 231 Neb. 269, 436 N.W.2d 139 (1989).   
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indicates this phrase is used in a: 

broad sense…[and] comprehends not only the interests that a person may have in 
the actual present use of land for residential, agricultural, commercial, industrial, 
and other purposes, but also his interests in having the present value of the land 
unimpaired by changes in its physical condition.  ‘Interest in the use and 
enjoyment of land’ also comprehends the pleasure, comfort, and enjoyment that a 
person normally derives from the occupancy of land.  

 
 Plaintiff’s claim for private nuisance fails for multiple reasons, namely Plaintiff has not 

alleged, nor can it allege, how Arrowhead Inn’s conduct interfered with Tribe members use and 

enjoyment of land, and it is also unable to prove Arrowhead Inn’s conduct was the proximate 

cause of some damage to Plaintiff.5  As discussed below, Plaintiff fails to state a private nuisance 

claim. 

1. Plaintiff fails to state a claim for private nuisance as it has not alleged, 
nor can it allege, Arrowhead Inn’s actions interfered with Plaintiff’s 
use and enjoyment of land. 

 
Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint does not plausibly demonstrate Arrowhead Inn 

interfered with Tribe members use and enjoyment of land.  In its Complaint, Plaintiff alleges the 

“Defendants…have interfered with the use and enjoyment of that land including, but not limited 

to, the ability to develop and enhance the value of the land.  As a result, the value of the land 

owned by the OST is depressed due to the illegal unreasonable conditions created by the 

Defendants.”  (Plaintiff’s Second Amended Comp. ¶ 65).  These allegations merely set forth 

labels and naked assertions and accordingly are not sufficient to state a “plausible claim.”  See 

Twombly,   550 U.S. 555-557.  

Plaintiff does not and cannot allege facts showing that Arrowhead’s conduct, not on the 

premises of the PRIR, interfered with the use and enjoyment of Tribe members land.   

2. Plaintiff fails to state a claim for private nuisance because the factual 
allegations fail to establish Arrowhead Inn’s conduct was a proximate 
cause of some damage to it. 

 
Plaintiff’s private nuisance claim fails for the additional reason that its conclusory 

statements of causation are insufficient to maintain such claim.  In its Second Amended 

Complaint, Plaintiff also alleges as a result of “Defendants’” actions, the “value of the land 

                                                 
5 Plaintiff’s burden of proof regarding a claim of private nuisance is set forth in NJI2d Civ. 17.01.  Arrowhead Inn 
has discussed only the two most glaring deficits of Plaintiff’s private nuisance claim. 
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owned by the OST is depressed due to the illegal unreasonable conditions created by the 

Defendants.”  These allegations, once again, do not meet the Twombly pleading requirements.   

As such, Plaintiff’s private nuisance claims should be dismissed, as it is unable to state a claim 

upon which relief can be granted. 

Further, even if such allegations are sufficient under Twombly, Plaintiff’s highly 

speculative theory of causation again requires this Court to make illogical leaps.  Plaintiff’s basic 

allegations indicate “Defendants” sell alcohol, which in turn somehow causes Tribe members’ 

land values to decrease.  As with all allegations of causation in Plaintiff’s Second Amended 

Complaint, there are multiple missing causal links and unanswered questions.  For example, 

(1) Are there environmental factors affecting land values? (2) What economic factors affect land 

prices on the PRIR? (3) Are there additional unknown forces and/or factors affecting land 

values?  These questions significantly implicate Plaintiff’s highly speculative theory that 

Arrowhead Inn’s conduct causes the land values on the PRIR to decrease. 

Plaintiff’s allegations do not and could never plausibly demonstrate how Arrowhead 

Inn’s conduct caused its alleged injuries.  For this additional reason, Plaintiff’s Second Amended 

Complaint must be dismissed with prejudice.   

G. PUBLIC POLICY DICTATES A DISMISSAL OF PLAINTIFF’S S ECOND 
AMENDED COMPLAINT WITH PREJUDICE. 

 
The underlying public policy implications of Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint are 

numerous and significant.  First, Plaintiff is attempting to impose dram shop liability by 

essentially asserting that manufacturers, distributors, and retailers are insurers of the safety of 

those consuming alcohol.  Second, Plaintiff is also asking this Court to issue a permanent 

injunction that is not only impractical, but also could require Arrowhead Inn to discriminate 

based upon race and ethnicity.  Third, Plaintiff is asking this Court to grossly expand nuisance 

doctrines.  This expansion is not supported by Nebraska law and is unwarranted. 

Nebraska case law interpreting public and private nuisance causes of action appear to be 

limited to cases involving the use of land (hog farms, gambling, cattle confinements, etc…) 

and/or conduct that is in violation of a statute or ordinance.  Arrowhead Inn was unable to find 

any instances of Nebraska case law, with similar factual patterns as is present here, whereby suit 

was brought under nuisance theories.  Additionally, a nationwide search reveals limited case law 

with analogous factual situations.  Further, in cases where nuisance claims were asserted, other 
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jurisdictions are often hesitant to exponentially expand the law of nuisance and open the 

floodgates of litigation.  Ashley County v, Ark. V. Pfizer, Inc., 552 F.3d 659, 671 (8th Cir. 2009). 

In Ashley, Arkansas counties sued manufacturers and distributors of over-the-counter 

cold and allergy medications containing ephedrine or pseudoephedrine to recoup the costs 

expended in dealing with the societal effects of methamphetamine.  Amongst various other 

causes of action, the counties’ alleged a theory of public nuisance.  Following removal from state 

court, the defendants moved for and were granted judgment on the pleadings.  Id.  On appeal, the 

Court performed an extensive analysis of the counties’ nuisance claims.  Id. at 666. 

Specifically, and in discussing the proximate cause requirement of public nuisance, the 

Court indicated such concept is “bottomed on public policy as a limitation on how far society is 

willing to extend liability for a defendant’s actions.”  Ashley County, Ark. v. Pfizer, Inc., 552 

F.3d 659, 671 (8th Cir. 2009).  The Court further explained, in making a finding of no proximate 

cause: 

As a federal court construing state law, we are very reluctant to open Pandora's 
box to the avalanche of actions that would follow if we found this case to state a 
cause of action under Arkansas law. We could easily predict that the next lawsuit 
would be against farmers' cooperatives for not telling their farmer customers to 
sufficiently safeguard their anhydrous ammonia (another ingredient in illicit 
methamphetamine manufacture) tanks from theft by methamphetamine cooks. 
And what of the liability of manufacturers in other industries that, if stretched far 
enough, can be linked to other societal problems? Proximate cause seems an 
appropriate avenue for limiting liability in this context, as in the gun manufacturer 
context, particularly where an effect may be a proliferation of lawsuits not merely 
against these defendants but against other types of commercial enterprises—
manufacturers, say, of liquor, anti-depressants, SUVs, or violent video games—in 
order to address a myriad of societal problems regardless of the distance between 
the ‘causes' of the ‘problems' and their alleged consequences.  Id.  See also 
Beretta, 872 A.2d at 651. 
 

 The Illinois Supreme Court also provided a similar explanation in Beretta.  Faced with a 

public nuisance suit brought by the City of Chicago against firearms manufacturers, distributors, 

and dealers, the Court weighed the policy implications of allowing such a claim against various 

defendants.  Specifically, the Court noted, in making a no duty and lack of proximate cause 

holding: 

in the present case, the consequences of imposing a duty upon the dealer 
defendants to prevent the creation of a public nuisance in the city of Chicago by 
those intent on illegally possessing and using guns in the city are equally far-
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reaching. The same concerns underlie our conclusion that it is inadvisable as a 
matter of public policy to deem the dealer defendants' actions a legal cause of the 
alleged nuisance.  Id. at 414, 821 N.E.2d 1099, 1138. 
 
The skepticism expressed in Ashley County and Berretta equally apply here.  The 

practical concerns both about potentially limitless liability and about the unfairness of imposing 

liability for the acts of another cannot be understated.  People ex rel. Spitzer v. Sturm, Ruger & 

Co., Inc., 309 A.D.2d 91, 95-96, 761 N.Y.S.2d 192, 196 (2003).  If this Court were to allow 

claims for public and private nuisance in this circumstance, the precedential effect would be 

disastrous and could give rise to limitless claims, expensive litigation, and non-culpable parties 

being hauled into court for infinitesimal roles in alleged causal chains. 

Practically speaking, if this Court were to allow this claim to proceed past a Motion to 

Dismiss on nuisance theories, the boundaries of those causes of action would be exponentially 

expanded.  For example, what would prevent a plaintiff with obesity, heart disease, high 

cholesterol or some other ailment, from bringing claims against a fast food restaurant that 

continued to serve him/her despite knowledge of alleged health issues associated with the 

overconsumption of fast food?  Would an individual with a gambling addiction be allowed to 

bring a nuisance claim against a casino for allowing him/her to gamble?  Would a car dealer be 

subject to a nuisance lawsuit for car sales to individuals with poor driving records?  Could a 

cellular phone provider be sued for selling phones to drivers with multiple traffic citations?     

The implications behind Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint would set unwarranted 

and unneeded precedent.  Allowing such claims to proceed past a Motion to Dismiss would 

subject Arrowhead Inn to significant expense and burden when there is no basis in law for the 

same.  Even if Plaintiff has standing and has stated a claim upon which relief may be granted, 

public policy dictates a dismissal of Plaintiff’s entire Second Amended Complaint with 

prejudice.  

H. PLAINTIFF’S CLAIM AGAINST JASON SCHWARTING IN HIS 
CAPACITY AS LICENSEE OF ARROWHEAD INN SHOULD BE 
DISMISSED AS A MATTER OF LAW. 
 

Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint separately names Jason Schwarting, Licensee of 

Arrowhead Inn, as one Defendant and Jason Schwarting d/b/a Arrowhead Inn as another 

Defendant.  (Second Amended Comp. ¶ 3).  Arrowhead Inn maintains a Licensee is not a 

separate entity capable of being sued or subject to judgment.  Plaintiff’s Second Amended 
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Complaint makes no specific allegations as to Schwarting in his capacity as a Licensee and 

therefore there is no basis upon which a claim can be maintained against him.  Accordingly, 

Plaintiff’s claims against Jason Schwarting, Licensee of Arrowhead Inn should be dismissed as a 

matter of law. 

CONCLUSION 

 For the foregoing reasons, Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint should be dismissed 

with prejudice. 
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